
MINUTES OF THE KENT COUNTY LEVY COURT 
COMBINED BUSINESS MEETING 

KENT COUNTY ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLEX 
555 BAY ROAD, DOVER, DE 

LEVY COURT CHAMBER, ROOM 203 
TUESDAY, MARCH 28,2017 

Call to Order 

The Combined Business meeting of the Kent County Levy Court was called to 
order at 7:00p.m. by President Banta. 

Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance 

The Invocation was led by Mr. Howell and the Pledge of Allegiance was led by 
Mr. Buckson. 

Moment of Silence for our Troops 

A moment of silence was observed for our Troops and led by Mr. Sweeney. 

Opening remarks by Levy Court President P. Brooks Banta: 
This is a solemn and serious event that has been occurring for well over 300 
years. There are awesome challenges for critical times in American history but I 
will assure you that in taking the oath of office, which has definitive 
requirements, I know that our new commissioner is up to the challenge. 2017 
presents a plethora of issues, some of which will receive a resolution; some of 
which will be met with difficulty, but with everyone's support we will maintain 
the quality of life that so many Kent Countians have enjoyed for so many years. 
Keep the faith; may God Bless Kent County, and certainly God Bless the United 
States of America. 

Oath administered by The Honorable Brenda A. Wootten, Kent County 
Clerk of the Peace to James E. Hosfelt, Jr., Commissioner-Elect, 2nd District 

Mr. Hosfelt: 
Thank you to everybody that came out this evening. I know everybody in this 
room is not here for me; I appreciate it none the less. Thank you. 
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Roll call and Determination of Quorum 

Allan F. Angel 
Eric L. Buckson 
James E. Hosfelt, Jr. 
Glen M. Howell 
Terry L. Pepper 
George W. Sweeney, Sr. 
P. Brooks Banta 

Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Commissioner 
Vice President 
Commissioner 
President 

There are seven (7) Commissioners present at Roll Call 

Additions/Deletions to Agenda 

03/28/17 

1. Mr. Banta advised the Appointment of Commissioner Hosfelt to the Central 
Delaware Chamber of Commerce would be added as Item #3 under his name. 

Adoption of Agenda 

Motion was made by Mr. Sweeney; seconded by Mr. Angel; carried by roll call 
vote seven (7) yeas to adopt the Agenda as amended. 

Consent Agenda 17-04 

The items on the Consent Agenda were discussed in Committee on Tuesday, 
March 21, 2017. The topics are considered routine and/or non-controversial and 
will be acted upon by a single roll call vote of the Levy Court. There will be no 
separate discussion of these items unless a Commissioner so requests, in which 
event the item( s) shall be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered 
separately under New Business. Items from the March 21, 2017 Committee 
Meetings: 

• Downtown Development District Match 
• Housing Rehabilitation Project Change Order Greater than ~5% 

of Base Contract 
• RFP 16-IT-01 Comprehensive Technical Master Plan 

Mr. Pepper Moved to approve the Consent Agenda; seconded by Mr. Sweeney; 
carried by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Mr. Sweeney Moved to approve the Combined Business Meeting Minutes of 
03/14/17; seconded by Mr. Pepper; carried by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

PRESENTATIONS 

Resolution 3637, Kent County Medal for Meritorious Service 

Lorri Tanaka read the following into the record: 
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WHEREAS, Delaware Adjutant General Francis D. "Frank" Vavala retired 
January 31, 2017 after nearly 50 years of service including 18 years as the· highest 
ranking member of the Delaware National Guard leading 2,800 soldiers and 
airmen; and 

WHEREAS, Lt. General Francis D. "Frank" Vavala enlisted in the Delaware 
National Guard in 1967 as a private and worked his way through the ranks 
including among others platoon leader, company commander, Battalion 
Commander, Operations Officer, Chief of Staff, Deputy Commander, and 
Assistant Adjutant General until 1999 when he was appointed Adjutant General 
responsible for managing Delaware's Army and Air National Guard operations 
and advising the Governor; and 

WHEREAS, During his long tenure, Delaware Adjutant General Francis D. 
"Frank" Vavala was stationed in Dover on various assignments and was an ardent 
supporter of the Smyrna Readiness Center home to the 31st Civil Support Team 
and the 261st Theater Tactical Signal Brigade; and 

WHEREAS, Lt. General Francis D. "Frank" Vavala has devoted his life to 
serving people in need during natural and manmade disasters and defending the 
freedoms enjoyed by each and every citizen of the United States of America; and 

WHEREAS, Delaware Adjutant General Francis D. "Frank" Vavala. has been 
recommended for a Kent County Medal in accordance with the provisions of Kent 
County Levy Court policy and the requirements thereof; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Kent County Levy Court does 
hereby recognize, commend, and award Lt. General Francis D. Vavala with a 
Kent County Medal for Meritorious Service on this the 28th day of March, 2017. 

Motion by Mr. Sweeney to approve Resolution 3637; seconded by Mr. Angel; 
carried by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Lt. General V avala was met down front by the County Administrator and 
Commissioners for the presentation. Each offered their sincere appreciation for 
his service to the County, State and Country and best wishes and congratulations 
on his retirement. Lt. General Vavala responded, "From my perspective, this is a 
huge honor. You honor me far more than I deserve and I thank you from the 
bottom of my heart, and I accept this really on behalf of the men and women who 
was privileged to serve with. It is not about me; it was never about me; it was 
about all of them. I stood on their shoulders; they were my credentials; they are 
the ones who serve you in your hometown. This recognition is on their behalf so 
I humbly and gratefully accept it. It is a huge honor for me. Thank you so much, 
all of you. You didn't have to do this and I know that. I know that this is a huge, 
hu~e recognition from the Kent County Levy Court and you certainly are the 
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strength of our State here in central Delaware. I am privileged and honored. 
Thank you. 

Employee of the Month - April 2017 

The following was read into the record by Lorri Tanaka: 

Kent County Department Heads have selected Scott A. McMillon from the 
Department of Public Safety as the April 2017 Employee of the Month. 

Scott has been a Kent County employee since November 2003 and serves as a 
Paramedic II in the Division of Emergency Medical Services. His primary duties 

include treating patients using advanced emergency care procedures and insuring 
the high quality delivery of life support techniques. In addition, he is a founding 
member and longest serving member of Kent County's Medic SWAT Team, 
which requires rigorous physical and mental training and the ability to deploy 
with little notice. He was previously honored as Employee of the Month in 
September 2012. 

Scott is also an accomplished public speaker and trainer. A skillset which was 
effectively demonstrated recently when he and a co-worker developed and 
presented a comprehensive Active Shooter Response training program to all Kent 

County employees. The training course garnered widespread praise from staff 
members for the valuable content and effective use of video with hands-on 
demonstration of aftercare techniques. 

According to Public Safety Director Colin Faulkner, "Scott is an outstanding 
medic and a dedicated role ~odel for new paramedics joining the service. He 
delivers the highest level of patient medical care even under the most extreme 
conditions. His devotion to the SWAT medic program and extra training required 
is a testament to the outstanding professional standards he personifies." Scott 
resides in Sussex County. 

Kent County Levy Court, April2017 Employee ofthe Month, Scott A. McMillon, 

On this, the 28th day of March 2017, the Levy Court ofKent County, State of 
Delaware, does hereby recognize Scott A. McMillon, Paramedic II, Department 
of Public Safety/Emergency Medical Services Division, for his exceptional 
initiative, dedication, and conscientiousness in the delivery of services to the 
citizenry of the County. Hon. P. Banta 

Chief Faulkner accepted the award on behalf of Scott. 

Resolution 3636, Retirement of George J. Kuemer 

Mr. Pepper Moved to approve Resolution 3636; seconded by Mr. Howell; carried 
by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 
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The following was read by Lorri Tanaka into the record: 

Whereas, the retirement of George J. Kuemer, an employee ofKent County, State 
ofDelaware, from his duties as WWF Plant Operator IV, in the Public Works 
Department, Division of Wastewater Facilities, presents a suitable opportunity for 
expressing the esteem in which we hold George J. Kuemer, as a good and faithful 
public servant. 

Therefore, be it resolved that the County of Kent expresses its warmest 
appreciation and thanks to George J. Kuemer for the able and loyal manner in 
which he performed his public duties. 

Be it further resolved that this resolution be his evidence of a right to the pension 
provided by the Kent County Employees' Retirement Program; and that this 
Resolution be and hereby is incorporated into the official minutes of the March 
28, 2017 meeting of the Kent County Levy Court. 

George was met down front by the commissioners and the County Administrators 
and accompanied by Andrew Jakubowitch and Bill Vincent. George thanked 
everyone and stated he was very humbled. Everyone expressed how much his 
experience and dedication to the job would be missed before presenting him with 
a gift and warmest wishes on his retirement. 

INTRODUCTIONS 

Allan Kujala announced there was one new employee in the Department of 
Planning Services and the introduction would be made by the Director of 
Planning Services, Sarah Keifer. 

MICHAEL A. FESTI was hired March 13, 2017 as a Permit Technician I in the 
Department of Planning Services - Inspections & Enforcement Division. Michael 
received his Associate's Degree in Computer Aided Drafting from Southwest 
Florida College in 2005. He most recently worked at Brandywine CAD Design, 
Inc. and prior to that as a CAD Technician for A&E Support Services, Inc. in 
Florida. Michael brings with him more than 12 years of extensive design, CAD, 
and electrical/plumbing code experience. Michael resides in Commissioners 
Sweeney's and Pepper' s districts. 

Michael stated it was a privilege to be able to work for the County and to serve 
the citizens of Kent County under the direction of Levy Court. The 
commissioners welcomed him aboard to the family of Levy Court and wished him 
the best ofluck. 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
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Sarah Keifer stated these Public Hearings are conducted for the purpose of giving 
the citizens of Kent County the opportunity to present testimony on the 
application and ordinances that are before the Levy Court. Everyone will have an 

opportunity to speak. All statements will be made from the podium at the front of 
the room. For the record, please give your name and address. Copies of any 
written statements or exhibits used during the hearing should be provided to the 
Clerk of the Peace for inclusion in the record for that item. 

For each application before the Levy Court, the President will introduce t.lJ.e 
application; 

The Levy Court will then receive testimony from all of those in favor; 

Testimony will then be received from those who may be opposed. 

After everyone has had an opportunity to speak, the hearing on the application 
will be closed and the Levy Court will then take what action it deems appropriate. 
Levy Court's decision will be based upon public hearing testimony received at 
this meeting as well as a recommendation report submitted to the Levy Court by 
the Regional Planning Commission, and I would ask that that recommendation be 
included by reference in the permanent record of the meeting established by the 
Clerk of the Peace. 

The Public Hearing Notice of this meeting was published in the March 18, 2017 
edition ofthe Delaware State News. 

PETITION FOR CONDITIONAL USE APPROVAL 

Mr. Angel: 
1. Application#: C-17-01; Applicant I Owner: Deborah Batson I 

Richard C. Batson, Sr. & Pamela M. Knowles; Zoning District I 
Proposed Use: AR (Agricultural Residential) I Home Daycare; Area & 
Location I ID#: 0.69 +acres on the northwest side of Persimmon Tree Ln. 
(Co. Rd. 337), approx. 225' southwest of Pleasanton Dr., north of Dover I 
LC-00-058.00-0 1-11.01-000 

Ms. Keifer: This is an application for a Home Occupation/Home Daycare. It is 
located outside the Growth Zone; it's .69 acres on the Northwest Side of 
Persimmon Tree LaneiSW ofPleasanton Drive, North of Dover. The Planning 
Commission took testimony on this application at their March 2nd hearing and at 
their March 9th business meeting voted unanimously to recommend approval; 
determining that the application met the conditions of approval for a home 
daycare. I am happy to answer any questions the Levy Court might have. 

QUESTIONS- None 
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Public Hearing is Open on Application# C-17-01 
IN FAVOR 

03/28117 

Deborah Batson, 1367 Persimmon Tree Lane, Dover, DE: I am trying to open 
up an in-home daycare to take care of approximately 4 children during the day, 
two of them being my niece and nephew. 

Mr. Pepper: Four children; age range? 

Mrs. Batson: Infant to preschool. Toddler till they get ready to go to 
kindergarten. 

Mr. Pepper: So they are mobile and walking around some ofthem. You have 
gone thru the State process? Had your place approved and everything? 

Mrs. Batson: I had to go thru you first. 

Mr. Pepper: But you plan on going thru the State? 

Mrs. Batson: Yes. 

Mr. Pepper: How many children are you going to ask for? Four? 

Mrs. Batson: I am allowed seven but I only want four. 

Mr. Pepper: I viewed your property from satellite imagery and I also went by 
there. I noticed one thing; there is a pool in the back and I saw that it is fenced in. 
What area outside the home are you going to allow the children to play in on nice 
days? 

Mrs. Batson: We are in the process of putting a fence on the other side of the 
pool that is closed in. 

Mr. Pepper: On the east side, in that grass area? Have you got a permit for that 
yet? 

Mrs. Batson: No, not yet. 

Mr. Pepper: But that is in the plans, to put a fence up there? 

Mrs. Batson: Yes. 

Mr. Pepper: Okay. Is this the first time you have done in-home daycare? 

Mrs. Batson: It is. I worked at my sister's right after high school. 
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Mr. Pepper: The question I always present is do you have a fence? The reason 
I present that is, I am a firm believer if you can predict it you can prevent it. If 
you have a fence up there you have less of a chance for a child to get loose from 
you and head toward the road, so that's why I always ask about a fence. Thank 
you. 

Mr. Banta: Any other questions for the applicant? 

IN OPPOSITION -None 

Public Hearing is Closed on Application# C-17-01 

Motion to approve Application C-17 -01 by Mr. Angel; RPC unanimous vote and 
recommendation; no public opposition; seconded by Mr. Buckson. 

Roll Call 

Mr. Angel: As per my reasons stated, yes. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, reasons stated, no public opposition, my vote is yes. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, reasons stated and no opposition. 

Mr. Pepper: In order to be consistent, I know the applicant is going to put a fence 
up, but at this point there is no fence up. No reflection upon the applicant but I 
am just being consistent, so my vote would be no. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, based on RPC recommendation, no opposition and staff 
recommendation. 

Mr. Banta: Yes, based on RPC recommendations, staff and no opposition, I vote 
yes. 

Roll call reveals six (6) yeas, one (1) nay. Application C-17-01 is approved. 

PETITIONS TO AMEND COMPREHENSIVE PLAN MAP AND ZONING 
MAP 

Mr. Buckson: 
1. Ordinance LC17-01, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive Plan 

Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, Delaware 
pursuant to the provisions of Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 
Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and Article XXVIII 
(changes and amendments) effective December 01, 2000, as amended. 



9 03/28117 

Ms. Keifer: This item is an application to change both the zoning and 
comprehensive Plan Map Designation. Currently the site is zoned 
AC/Agricultural Conservation. The proposal is a mix ofRSl Single Family 
Residential & RS5 Medium Density Residential. It should be noted that 90 acres 
roughly is proposed for RSI; roughly 7 acres proposed for RS5. The site itself is 
just over 97 acres. It is on the west side of Clapham Road and the south side of 
Sophers Row, just south of Magnolia. It is located within the growth zone. The 
planning commission took testimony on this application at their February 2nd 
hearing and at their February 9th business meeting voted unanimously to 
recommend approval siting their evaluation that the proposal is in keeping with 
the general character of the area and that infrastructure is either in place or is 
planned to serve the area. So, again, this comes with a recommendation for 
approval. I am happy to answer any questions you might have. 

QUESTIONS -None 

Public Hearing is Open on Ordinance LC17-01 

IN FAVOR 

Hans Medlarz, 5 Princeton Road, Milford, DE: Representing Canterbury Land 
Development LLC. This is a re-zoning request. We feel the neighborhood would 
benefit if we had a slight mix of uses, different residential uses. We are here 
because the previous subdivision as it was approved by Levy Court had to be 
redesigned, so there's no question, because the stormwater management 
regulations have changed. The current stormwater is depicted on the site plan and 
will no longer be permitted as such and we will have to resubmit it to the 
conservation district for reemitting. We are committing here officially to an age 
restriction. We said that publically before. It was going to be age restricted to 
what the federal law allows, 55 and older. We have all units, single family, or if 
approved, attached housing. There will be no first time rentals. The 
transportation department expressed an interest in having the number of entrances 
limited on Clapham Road. We publically commit to, and we are very interested 
in a visitation of the traffic impact study because it's different, if the entrances are 
reconfigured and the age restrictions put in place, it will be a different approach; 
we will be using different traffic data. The original applicant, we are not the 
original applicant, already committed $400,000.00 to the capital improvement 
projects. We have met with staff. We have staff support. We have the Regional 
Planning Commission's support. We have held a public hearing, a public 
meeting, on request of the commissioner, Commissioner Buckson; at this public 
meeting we heard concerns from the neighbors with regards to the proposed 
rezoning. The major concerns we heard were associated with the RS5 zoning, the 
attached housing, we request that we can amend our application to have this 
zoning request only apply to the inner circle of the proposed new subdivision. 
The reason is, we would like you to give us a chance to show that attached 
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housing can work in Kent County and that we are willing and able to make it such 
that is going to be a good feature for our subdivision as well as for the neighbors. 
So having said this, we fully understand that you may not be inclined to go along 
with this experiment with us, so in this case we will follow the guidance of Levy 
Court and we will greatly appreciate it if you will let us know if you want us to 
remove the entire RS5 request. Located in the middle is the RS5, it would be 
completed surrounded by the subdivision, it would not be visible to anybody 
around the subdivision, that's what really uniquely lends itself for an approach, 
we would like for you to consider that. We are proposing less than three units per 
acre, we commit to the age restricted community, we are reducing the RS5 
request to central area only, plus your guidance on this decision. Probably the 
best news, the partners have acquired the adjacent piece to the north, it is a two 
acre piece, and we are proposing to integrate in the subdivision without adding 
any density on it, which would certainly drop the density further, but would allow 
a better border design and approach. 

Mr. Sweeney: Miss Keifer, the commitment to an age restricted for-sale only 
community, what are qualifications for them to make that commitment? 

Miss Keifer: It would be entirely unusual to effectively place that condition on a 
rezoning application. That's not how the County has traditionally done business. 
The request before the commission is simply to change the land use and the 
zoning designation for the piece of property. While I appreciate what the 
applicant has put on the record tonight I would yield to the County Attorney to 
know if that would ultimately carry over into future subdivision application as 
enforceable. 

Mr. Pepper: I would think it would have to be noted on the plot to have to be 
enforceable. 

Mr. Sweeney: Do you know what the requirements are from the perspective of 
HUD? 

Miss Keifer: In terms of the Fair Housing Act? 

Mr. Sweeney: Correct. 

Miss Keifer: What the Fair Housing Act effectively allows is legal 
discrimination, so you can deed restrict your community for over 55; 80% at a 
minimum have to be residents over 55; up to 20% could be permitted who don't 
meet that criteria. But it is purely a federal housing requirement; it is not 
addressed in the county's code at all. 

Mr. Sweeney: Thank you. 
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Mr. Angel: What would be the percentage oftownhomes that are put in that are 
age restricted? 

Miss Keifer: I am not entirely certain what the question is. The townhomes or 
age-restriction are dependent on each other. 

Mr. Angel: Okay. 

Mr. Angel: I know when you have 55 plus communities, I'll just take my district, 
you have townhomes and condos nearby, there's a safety issue with cars and kids 
playing, this is a pretty good development spread out with this area. Are these 
going to be townhomes? No townhomes? 

Miss Keifer: The proposal as it is in front of the Levy Court is for a mix of RS 1 
and RS5 zoning. The roughly seven acres ofRS5 zoning would allow 
townhomes. What Mr. Medlarzjust testified to, is ifthe Levy Court is 
uncomfortable with the seven acres, there's one portion of the proposal that's just 
under two that would allow a fairly minimal number of townhouses to be 
designed there. I am not certain if I am answering your question. 

Mr. Angel: You've given me something to think about. Thank you. 

Andy Strine, 1207 Delaware Avenue, Wilmington, DE: I would just like to 
back-up what Hans was saying and answer Commissioner Angel's initial question. 
We have scaled back the three rectangular pieces around the perimeter of the 
facility, the only piece in the middle is really a landlocked piece that's most 
logical, from our perspective to try and blend in more dense housing. It is about 
two percent of the entire project, I think about 1.75 acres. Our guestimate is you 
are probably going to get about two clusters oftownhomes there, so if there is a 
townhouse cluster of six and you get two of them, you have 12 units out of a 
community that's almost 300 units, so it's a fairly small percentage of the overall 
number. They would equally be age restricted as would the rest of the 
community. One of the other things you need to do in an age restricted is have 
amenities that are geared towards that population, and part of the redesigns we are 
going to put the clubhouse closer to the entrance where it is in phase one where 
you can actually build it when folks are first coming in. A lot of times they don't 
want to take it on faith that when you get to phase five you are going to put the 
pool and clubhouse in, so it is pretty important to do that up front. We think it is a 
logical and fairly unobtrusive addition. We did have a meeting, at Commissioner 
Buckson's suggestion, where we spent a couple of hours with a lot of the folks 
that are here. In large part, a lot of their comments are reflected in our scaling 
back of our request RS5. We are going to be forced to change the community in 
some senses with the storm water management and losing some of the cui de sac 
and we are really just trying to keep close to the same density. We really think we 
are going to have a much better design, we know we are going to have a much 
better design from the stormwater stand point, but also from a functional aspect in 
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the community. One of the other takeaways there, a lot of the issues that were 
brought up at the meeting certainly Commissioners Pepper and Buckson heard 
them as well, some of them really weren't reflecting on this project, they were 
really general complaints on the surrounding areas. There are some things we are 
not going to be able to change; we are not going to be able to change Magnolia 
and the fact that youtve got a fairly congested intersection there. One thing that 
we have looked into that we got asked about are we going to bring natural gas into 
this community. We've spoken with Chesapeake, it's not committed, but they've 
said you are going to have a couple hundred units here, we are within a mile or 
two, we would love to bring service down there. Our goal would be to bring it 
past Misty Pines, where the folks were interested in having it. There was fear we 
were going to put townhouses four stories tall, we were going to put in apartments 
for rent, we are going to turn this into a high-density community, or it's going to 
be a trailer park. There's a whole host of things brought up, there was some 
pamphlets with pictures that one guy said, "Are you going to do this?" I said I 
don't know what that is. It is clearly not what we are proposing or suggesting. As 
somebody that's been operating in this county my entire life, we are going to do a 
nice community; we are going to do a nice project. I am a second generation guy. 
We are going to build something we are proud of. Folks in the neighborhood 
would love for it to be a farm forever, but it really is in the growth, it's probably 
not going to be a farm forever and ever and ever. 

Mr. Buckson: I understand the seat that you sit in, I understand the seat the 
residents sit in, and I understand the seat that I sit in. Your product is strong, and 
it is solid. But their concerns are very real. Magnolia presents some real issues. 
It is essentially my hometown. We have to do this right. The townhouses are an 
issue. There an issue because they don't fit. You talk about a 55 and then we've 
got townhomes, that's a challenge for me. We do have some options. 

Mr. Strine: It's going to be designed specifically for the type of clientele that are 
going to come in here. First floor living space, in essence your kids or your 
grandkids rooms are upstairs. It's sort of like a one bedroom ranch, with two 
bedrooms and a bathroom upstairs with what we are envisioning. It is going to be 
two stories with a garage. 

Mr. Sweeney: There have been some concerns about traffic, especially on 
Sophers Row. From looking at the design, the major entrance to the development 
will be off Sophers Row. 

Mr. Strine: Correct. 

Mr. Sweeney: And the one on Clapham is emergency only? 

Mr. Strine: I think the one on Clapham is going to be abandoned and there is 
going to be a second emergency entrance on Sophers Row. It's not finalized 
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because we really have to do zoning first and then you talk to Del-Dot, but their 
suggestion was to fix one intersection as opposed to adding two new ones. 

Mr. Sweeney: So, Clapham has lines, shoulders, turn lanes. Do you envision 
doing the same thing? 

Mr. Strine: I am not sure what Del-Dot is going to require of us. I suspect that is 
going to be it. 

Mr. Sweeny: Thank you. 

Mr. Pepper: My question is for staff, do we have anything on record from Del
Dot? I've spoken to Del-Dot and they've said that any improvements to Clapham 
Road are in the long range plan, there's nothing been funded. Do we have 
anything on record stating that as well? 

Miss Keifer: In terms of what the long term plans are for the State to make 
improvements, no. Primarily what Del-Dot has been commenting on is this 
proposal specifically and that a traffic impact study would be forthcoming with a 
development. 

Mr. Pepper: Thank you. 

Mr. Strine: I do know that the improvements on Clapham Road come up to the 
lower comer of our property. 

Mr. Buckson: Talk to me about the updated traffic impact study. 

Mr. Strine: This is the first step in the process. 

Mr. Medlarz: Having acquired the parcel immediately north on Sophers Row 
allows any and all required improvements because we now have enough right-of
way. Right now there is nothing in the capital improvement project pipeline for 
the Sophers Row/Clapham Road intersection, unless it was added in this fiscal 
year. 

Mr. Buckson: Sophers Row is not set up currently to handle this type of a project, 
at least not successfully anyway, at least not the intersection. I am curious during 
the conditional use process in the TIS that they address those concerns; I will be 
looking for that. It will be vitally important that any type of conditional use that 
comes here addresses those concerns, or I will not be able to support what's 
actually on paper. 

Miss Keifer: This should absolutely get picked up by the APFO. There's every 
reason to believe the traffic impact study would have to be finished before the 
subdivision application. For it to go forward to the planning commission we 
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would need the TIS in hand with all the recommendations for improvements from 
Del-Dot. I do want to note that, at least based on what's being described it would 
not be a conditional use; it would be a hi-right subdivision, so it would end with 
the planning commission. I don't want misunderstanding on process. 

Mr. Buckson: Issues before them will be the APFO and the information to make 
that decision? 

Miss Keifer: Most definitely. 

Mr. Buckson: Okay. 

IN OPPOSITION 

Robert Roe, 1342 Clapham Road, Magnolia, DE: I've lived on that road for 61 
years. We want low density. We are not trying to stop the houses. From the 
right, to the south there are no townhouses, there are no condos. We will take the 
houses. I understand these guys have got to make money. But there are no 
townhouses there; there are no condos there; that should never have been allowed. 

Cheryl Roe, 1342 Clapham Road, Magnolia, DE: I just wanted to point out, this 
parcel we are referencing here is not a single parcel. It is currently being sold to 
support 282 single family homes. That is also including their townhouses. That 
is on a 97.38 acre parcel which is going to exit onto Sophers Row. That's going to 
add another 564 vehicles exiting out on Sophers Row. There's another parcel, 
which is entitled Thornberry Crossing. It is a 25 acre parcel that is also going to 
be exiting out onto Sophers Row and it is going to support approximately 56 
homes. The last one that is going to be impacted onto Sophers Row is the 
Chaselyn Manor, it is 206, is what it was proposed back in 2005 when Rodney 
Mitchell got it passed, with approval from the residents that were there. That is 
on a 79.1 acre parcel, and there's another 412 vehicles exiting and entering on 
Sophers Row. Sophers Row is currently a State maintained road but it does not 
conform with the Del-Dot standards. We want to ensure that the Sophers Row 
infrastructure can accommodate the additional traffic and ensure that the residents 
of the area will be minimally impacted. We want to maintain open space and 
encourage you to maintain the low density. 

Dan Miller, 404 Blue Spruce Drive, Misty Pines, Magnolia, DE: I want to talk 
about the zoning. The plan as presented and is stated it is in keeping with the 
neighboring communities, I've got to tell you there's no communities with that 
kind of density. There are no communities where you can barely put your arms 
out without touching the houses on either side. It's an eyesore, it's dangerous. 
My fear is, you put that many houses that close together one of them is going to 
bum and it is going to take three, four, five others with it. It's not in keeping with 
the surrounding community. I know it's in the growth zone, but just because it's 
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in the growth zone doesn't mean we have to pack them in like sardines. My 
proposal would be cutting that density by a third. 

Mr. Buckson: Mr. Miller and others who have referenced "b" on the front page 
for the Regional Planning Commission's recommendations for approval, I would 
strike "b." It is boiler plate language; it doesn't fit this application in my opinion, 
because you're right, technically as it's worded it kind of throws you off when it 
says "in keeping with general character of the surrounding area." I get it; I 
understand what you are saying. What I want to do is understand what the current 
density is for the already existing PUD and what the proposed density might look 
like. 

Miss Keifer: As it's zoned right now, AC, the permitted density is three units per 
acre. The PUD, as it's approved, is about 2.9 units per acre. Minimum lot size in 
the PUD is 7500 square feet. Minimum lot size for RS1 is also 7500 square feet. 
RS 1 allows a density of 3 1/2 units per acre, so it's slightly higher than what it's 
zoned for now. Minimum lot size mirrors what was approved with the PUD. 
Given the minimum lot size of7500 square feet and ultimately land that's going to 
have to come out for open space stormwater, etc., I would be properly surprised if 
anybody were able to hit 3 1/2 units per acre when it's subdivided out. 

Mr. Miller: I doubt they will be able to hit it, too, but those houses are still going 
to be packed in tight. Is there going to be enough land for someone to be able to 
put a shed on their property without encroaching on their neighbor's property 
line? I'm just saying, they are that close. 

Miss Keifer: Just for point of reference, the set-back for a shed on a residential 
property is five feet. They would be able to put one on. 

Mr. Buckson: One ofthe reasons I am referencing this stuff is because I have 
heard your questions. I went and researched these questions because they are 
very good questions. We need to have legitimate answers for those. That's the 
purpose of this night, to get that information out. 

Shawn Perry, 52 Pine Forest Trail, Magnolia, DE: It' s obvious most of us have 
pretty much the same concerns, the traffic. I am concerned Del-Dot may come in 
and make Sophers Row a one way road, so you won't have traffic coming in and 
out, it will be outbound or inbound only. I know they are in the business to make 
money, but make a compromise, find something that we can come together on. 
We are talking about density and in keeping with the surrounding community. I 
don't want to live next to what they got in Magnolia up by Walgreens. I don't 
want that. I moved away from that. I wonder where they are going to get the 
water. Tide Water is going to supply the water, but we already have some issues 
at times with water supply, like low pressure. I have a question, I don't know if 
anyone can answer it. There was a slide earlier, and in the summary it said the 
original applicant already contributed $400,000.00 towards Del-Dot's off-site 
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capital projects on behalf of Hatteras Hill and Chaselyn Hills Subdivision. What's 
that $400,000.00? Is it for this development? Or is it for other Del-Dot projects? 
Mr. Buckson: I assume Del-Dot has it, I don't know if it is in escrow or if it 
vanished, I don't know. 

Mr. Miller: $400,000.00 is no pocket change. What did they do with the 
$400,000.00? Is it for this or did Del-Dot use it for other things so that they could 
get favorable decisions? 

Gina Campbell, 42 Loblolly Court, Misty Pines, Magnolia, DE: I haven't heard 
anyone talk about the effect it is going to have on our volunteer fire department. 
We are already facing a lot of problems now and you are going to add a high 
density area to it. What is it going to do to them? Is there a study on that? How 
is our post office going to manage? I don't get my mail till 5:00 o'clock at night. 
I may not get it for a week now, I don't know. Our schools, you know how 
Caesar Rodney Schools are, they are already packed. They are packed to the 
limit. Although it is an over 55 development, there may be some instances where 
we have to add some children. The fire department and the post office are the two 
things I would ask you to think about. Let alone Sophers Row, God help us. 

Mr. Buckson: In reference to the emergency services, I wanted to verify and I am 
correct, there is a surcharge on every building permit in a residential development 
and that percentage is directed towards the services in that area. 

James Frazier, 37 South Main Street, Magnolia, DE: I am the mayor of the 
Town of Magnolia, representing Town Council plus its 230 plus residents. My 
comments are directed to two primary issues. First, it will have a significant 
negative effect on our quality oflife. I have traffic statistics compiled by Del
Dot. There are four primary streets in Magnolia. There were 11 ,948 vehicles 
over a 24 hour period; there were 497 vehicles per hour or eight vehicles every 
singie minute, with at least half of them speeding. These developments will add 
over 1000 vehicles to the mix. Secondly, the municipal water supply system for 
the Town of Magnolia lies directly beneath these streets. This system dates back 
to 1928. Every single vehicle puts additional strain on the supply pipes and each 
year we spend thousands of our budget dollars repairing sections as they break. 
Although our water quality exceeds all required health standards, we continually 
operate in "keeping up" mode rather than "improve and upgrade" mode. We 
respectfully request that you deny any zoning or rezoning that would increase 
traffic flow any more than we currently experience. 

Rick Johnston, 135 Dogwood Drive, Magnolia, DE: There have been some 
questions about heating fuel for this development. The nearest natural gas is on 
the north edge of town, or if you are coming from the west at about 3400 Irish 
Hill Road. I would seriously question that Chesapeake would either run gas line 
through town or bring it about three miles if coming from the west. My other 
concern is the townhouses. As the plan is drawn, the townhouses are right in the 
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center, there is not a straight shot in for fire trucks. I am a firefighter and have 
been for 50 years. These townhouses, when one goes, very rarely, is it confined 
to one townhouse. I am also concerned about water supply. We had an incident 
this past summer in Chestnut Ridge where we had hydrants and water supply was 
marginal. We lost three homes out there. Worse fire I have ever personally 
experienced. With the proximity of these homes I would certainly fear another 
incident like that. The townhomes, I am vehemently opposed to them, both from 
an aesthetic and a fire protection stand point. 

Public Hearing is Closed on Ordinance LC17-01 

Mr. Buckson: A 55 and over age restricted community with no townhouses, there 
will be no rezoning in my motion, is the best option I have on the table right now. 
A denied vote doesn't deny it. It just moves it on into their court, forces their 
hand, the revisiting the project and the redesign. 

With that statement, my Motion tonight will be to approve LC 17-01 with the 
following changes: there will be no mention ofRS5, that the 97.3 acres shall be 
rezoned to RS1 and include the minutes from tonight's presentation, including the 
step-by-step of Cheryl's notes, as well as, the conversations we had with the rest 
of the community; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, reasons stated by Mr. Buckson. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, reasons stated per my motion. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes, for the reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: No, I am not going to vote for it. The opposition was very clear and 
I have to listen to the standing property owners in that vicinity. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, per Mr. Buckson's motion. 

Mr. Sweeney: Mr. Buckson made it pretty clear what was originally planned 
would be much more invasive and impactful on the residents there so, per Mr. 
Buckson's comments my vote's yes. 

Mr. Banta: Based on the careful worded motion of Mr. Buckson, and carefully 
looking out for the residents as well, my vote is yes. 

Roll Call reveals six (6) yeas, one (1) nay. Ordinance LC17-01 is approved. 

Mr. Angel: 
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1. Ordinance LC17-04, An Ordinance to amend the Comprehensive Plan 
Map Designation and the Official Zoning Map of Kent County, Delaware 
pursuant to the provisions of Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205 
Zoning, Article III, Section 205-8 and Section 205-9, and Article XXVIII 
(changes and amendments) effective December 01,2000, as amended. 

Miss Keifer: Ordinance LC17-04 is a rezoning application. The site is 1.08 acres 
on the west side of Route 13, south of Twin Oaks Drive just southeast of 
Cheswold that is inside the growth zone. The site is currently zoned IL, Limited 
Industrial and shown on the Comprehensive Plan Use Map as Industrial. The 
proposed zoning designation is BG, General Business and it is designated as 
Highway Commercial in the Comprehensive Plan. The Planning Commission 
took testimony at their March 2nd hearing and at their March 9th business 
meeting voted unanimously to recommend approval. They cited that the proposal 
certainly comports with the character of the surrounding area; infrastructure is in 
place and it actually does comport with the commercial areas map of the 
Comprehensive Plan. I am happy to answer any questions you might have. 

QUESTIONS - None 

Public Hearing is Open on Ordinance LC17-04 

IN FAVOR 

Jonathan Street, 500 Troon Road, Dover, DE: I am representing Sharp Energy. 
Sharp recently purchased their property and the adjacent property, the change in 
zone will make the two properties consistent zoning. What this will enable them 
to do is consolidate their parcels and further expand and improve their operations. 

Austin Cox, 29958 Arbor Acre Drive, Princess Anne, MD: Sharp Energy has 
been leasing the currently facility for approximately 15 years. We purchased it in 
January. The location is a premium location and we decided to expand our 
operations on this location. Currently we have about 14 employees at this 
location. With the upgrade of the facility we will be building probably about a 
9000 square foot facility, so that will give us about 40 employees for that location. 
This is where Sharp wants to be and where Sharp wants to grow into the 
community. 

Jonathan Drulik, 498 Sorrell Circle, Smyrna, DE: I have had four of my trailers 
in the storage lot that Mr. George owned and over the years the property started to 
look a little shabby. Then Mr. George decided to sell to Sharp Energy. I feel that 
will be an improvement to the area because they are going to build a new 
building; they are going to try and employ more people in the community. I see a 
win situation for all of us. 

IN OPPOSITION - None 
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Public Hearing is Closed on Ordinance LC17-04 

Mr. Angel: I Move to approve LC17-04 because it is a Limited Industrial going 
to BG and there's no opposition; seconded by Mr. Pepper. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, as per my motion. 

Mr. Buckson: Yes, per the motion made. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes, for the reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, for reasons stated and it will also improve the area and possibly 
create jobs. I do hate to see IL zoning go away, because it is so hard to get in the 
first place, but I will support the motion. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: Yes, for the reasons stated. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Ordinance LC 17-04 is approved. 

PETITIONS FOR CONDITIONAL USE REQUIRING SITE PLAN 
APPROVAL 

Mr. Banta: · 
1. Application CS14-10, Hickory Ridge Apartments 

Applicant & Owner: Liborio 3, LLC; Zoning District: BG (General 
Business); Present Use I Proposed Use: Vacant I Apartment Complex; 
Location I ID#: On the southwest comer of Hickory Ridge Rd. (Co. Rd. 
149) and S. DuPont Blvd. (US Rt. 13), south of Smyrna I DC-00-037.02-
01-49.00-000 

Miss Keifer: Application CS 14-10 is Hickory Ridge Apartments. The proposal 
is for a 104 unit apartment complex. It is just over 10 acres on the southwest 
comer of Hickory Ridge and Route 13, just south of Smyrna. It is inside the 
growth zone. The Regional Planning Commission initially held a public hearing 
at their February 2"d meeting, continued that hearing to March 2"d and at their 
March 9th business meeting voted to recommend denial of the conditional use 
application. They cited traffic concerns, as well as concerns regarding impact on 
adjacent property owners. 
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QUESTIONS -None 

Public Hearing is Open on Application CS14-10 

IN FAVOR 

Scott Lobdell, 6030 Churchmans Road, Newark, DE: This project was initially 
submitted in late 2014. Since that time we have had several meetings with the 
residents, we've met with the planning staff and we've incorporated many changes 
including a reduction in the amount of units into the layout to try to accommodate 
a lot of the concerns that were brought forth from all the parties involved. A brief 
summary of some of the changes, the unit count initially when the plan came in 
was 140; we are now down to 104 units. Part ofthat reason is a reconfigured 
layout and an agreement that was a request of the residents that we make all the 
buildings not to exceed two stories. On the original layout there were two 
entrances on Route 13, and a full movement entrance on Hickory Ridge Road. 
Between that initial submittal and now, at the request of the planning staff and the 
original planning commission comments we performed a TRA; that's a mini 
traffic study around several intersections with data provided by Del-Dot. As a 
result of that analysis and Del-Dot's input and their recommendations we 
eliminated one of the entrances on Route 13. We now have only one entrance on 
Route 13, further away from the intersection. The intersection on Hickory Ridge 
Road is now a right in and a right out only. The reason for that, there are two 
reasons, and both are related to safety. Providing a right in allows people coming 
down Hickory Ridge Road to enter the site without the need to go to the light and 
go onto 13 to enter the site; the right out allows people to leave the site and 
proceed north on 13 without the need to exit on 13 and cross over several lanes 
and make aU-turn. The general layout of the site went from a straight barracks
looking layout with a large spanse of impervious parking in front, to giving it 
some shape to provide a better look from the roadway. One of the issues the 
County had brought up was to thicken the buffer, the landscape buffer, on the 
roadway and also shield some of that. At the back-end of the site, currently there 
is a pretty significant developed tree line, that is going to stay in place at the 
request of the residents. The developers agreed to keep that in place. DNREC 
had issued a letter of concern about the storm water management and treatment 
on-site. There is going to be filter strips and swells along the frontage of this site 
and there's going to be some underground piping to encourage this water to perk 
back into the ground prior to it getting to the discharge point down at Garrison's 
Lake. We have met with the Conservation District, we have shown them 
preliminary calculations, and we have also met with DNREC officials that issued 
the letter of concern, and since that time, they've both reissued letters taking away 
their concerns on the project, after we satisfied what they were concerned about. 
There was another issue with DEL-DOT regarding some planting, species not 
being native; they were all replaced as part of the redesign. This site is zoned 
General Business, some of the permitted uses range from automobile sales to 
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hotels, supermarkets to restaurants. The apartment use that we're asking for is a 
conditional use, we think it is a little more conducive to the residential feel of the 
area rather than cram some commercial buildings in there, or hotel or a gas station 
even. One of the concerns brought up at the Planning Commission was the 
parking requirements. Based on the plan, the requirement, of the 104 units, half 
of them would be one bedroom units, half of them would be two bedroom units, 
the maximum would be 52 one bedroom units plus 52 two bedroom units. The 
parking calculation, by code, is for 195 spaces required on site; we are providing 
231 spaces, leaving 36 extra spaces for overflow parking. One ofthe biggest 
concerns we heard from residents was the traffic. We've done analysis for the 140 
units, now we are down to 104 units, and you can see just based on dropping the 
unit count down by 36 units we went from 931 trips generated by the site, down 
to 692 trips. Why that's significant is because, when you compare that to other 
uses that are allowed on that property by zoning code, you are looking at 
situations where a commercial could generate 4500 trips, office use could 
generate 1500 plus trips. Even a hotel by itself would generate 1000 trips. What 
we are trying to do is establish the use we are proposing on site is actually going 
to generate less traffic than what would be allowed by code, which is another 
reason we think this is a better use for that area. 

Mr. Buckson: Miss Keifer, in reading the packet, I always look at what currently 
could you do with a project. Is it all residential? What are you doing with 
apartments that you couldn't do something else with? That's the question I have 
for you, the technical aspects of it; the list at the bottom, commercial all the way 
through 02, what would be the requirement of the applicant to get that approved? 
Would that be a public hearing? 

Miss Keifer: At most it would be a site plan in front of the Planning Commission, 
there would be no public notice and no public hearing short of a meeting notice; 
but there would be no public hearing. 

Mr. Buckson: There would be no public hearing, so essentially you can produce 
an application for a gas station or a hotel, and essentially as long as you meet 
codes it's approved. 

Mr. Lobdell: That's what we are trying to establish here. We think the apartment 
use, even though it's a conditional use, we think it's a better situation for this area 
and the traffic situation in general. Another question that was brought up about a 
DEL-DOT bus stop, if there was one in front of the site. There is an existing bus 
stop on the site. Based on the height of the trees in the back, when you're 
standing out on 13 you cannot see the rooflines of the houses in the development 
which are two story homes, so we don't anticipate that this is going to be a visual 
issue for the development. This project is fully code compliant in regards to the 
zoning and the planning regulations. 
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Mr. Banta: I've got a few questions in regards to the project. I read somewhere 
there would be someone on site at all times? 

Mr. Lobdell: Correct. The intent is to have the manager on site at all 
times. He would live there. 

Mr. Banta: If a person was changing their oil in one of the parking spots, a person 
is right out there and reminding them they can't change their oil there due to 
DNREC regulations? 

Mr. Lobdell: Correct, that's one of the benefits of having someone living on site. 

Mr. Banta: What have you planned in regard to people with disabilities? Height 
of switches, as well as some type of devise to alert the fire service, a person in a 
wheelchair, will they be able to do that? What have you done in that regard? You 
don't have an answer to that? 

Mr. Lobdell: I don't have an answer to that. 

Mr. Banta: Has the Cheswold Fire Company been advised of what you are 
doing? 

Mr. Lobdell: We have sent paperwork and plans to them. We have had positive 
feedback. 

Miss Keifer: The conversation we had with the fire company was effectively 
whatever was built they would find a way to serve. 

Mr. Banta: The question I asked was, have you had communication contact with 
the fire company? Are you sure the letter was sent? 

Mr. Lobdell: We have sent plans over, there have been calls made, but there have 
been no direct meetings, no. That would be part of the review process. 

Mr. Banta: Are the doors handicap accessible? Are the sinks at an elevation 
where a handicap person can utilize them? I am just concerned about that. 

Mr. Lobdell: All of that will comply; it is part of the building code. The building 
code requirements will be met, as far as the width of the doorways and the heights 
of different switches and sinks and such. As far as the site plans are concerned, 
there will be handicapped parking and handicapped ramps throughout the site. 

Mr. Banta: Those parking regulations, they're not just for the people that live 
there but for guests that would come? You indicated there would be on-site 
parking, away from the people that live there. 
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Mr. Lobdell: Correct, there will be 36 extra spaces spread throughout the site. 

Mr. Banta: What kind of noise barrier is planned between the apartments? 

Mr. Lobdell: That's part of the building code itself. That's part of the building 
plan itself. 

Mr. Banta: In the event of a fire, is there going to be a central alarm system in 
order to get the Cheswold and Citizen's Hose Fire Companies up there in time? 

Mr. Lobdell: Every unit will be sprinkled. 

Mr. Banta: The residents are going to be living, if it's approved, across from a 
facility that is not necessarily acceptable by a lot of families and you are aware of 
that. What are you going to do to alert the people that might live there that that 
type of establishment exists? 

Mr. Lobdell: I think it is pretty clear that it is there. 

Mr. Banta: You are going to leave it up to the folks that may live in these high
efficiency apartments to figure it out for themselves? 

Mr. Lobdell: Yeah, I don't think you can miss it when you are there. When you 
are driving by it is pretty obvious. 

Mr. Banta: On traffic, I have been down there three separate mornings at 7:00 
a.m. and on Hickory Ridge Road, actually on Route 13, some people going south, 
some people going across the northbound to catch Route 1, they have been backed 
up between 7 and 22. What's being arranged with Del-Dot to improve that 
situation with traffic? 

Mr. Lobdell: You are talking about Hickory Ridge specifically? Two of the 
items Del-Dot talked about after they reviewed traffic operational analysis was 
regarding that issue and regarding the left turn lane. One of the comments was 
they wanted us to evaluate the turn queue. The second issue was, once we get 
into the design process and this thing starts getting built, we are going to have to 
do the timing analysis on the intersection. 

Mr. Banta: So, at this point in time you haven't really designed, or thought about 
a design that would alleviate the back-up of traffic and/or the exit/entrance of 
people into that facility back onto Hickory Ridge then onto 13? I don't think, 
from what I'm hearing, a sufficient amount of time on that. 

Mr. Lobdell: No, that is typically how the timing analysis works. You need the 
units in place to analyze the impact. 
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Mr. Banta: This is Kent County, number one, and it may not be typical, but the 
way we do things are sort of up-front and straight out. People need to know 
what's happening. You've learned that from the previous requests made by other 
people this evening. If a resident becomes disabled and has to stay there are, or 
are there going to be provisions for exit and entrance of those people that would 
care for them as well as paramedics with an ambulance or a stretcher to resolve 
that situation? 

Mr. Lobdell: I think that is all part of the building code that would all have to be 
complied with. 

Mr. Banta: You are telling me, and I think I read there are no TIS required for 
this project, correct? 

Mr. Lobdell: Correct. It's in the traffic improvement district. 

Mr. Banta: Del-Dot says they are not going to do a TIS? You've done an 
evaluation of some type? 

Mr. Lobdell: A traffic operational analysis, yes. 

Mr. Banta: Who supervises that? 

Mr. Lobdell: Del-Dot provides traffic data to us; we take that and analyze it, 
prepare a report and submit it back to Del-Dot. They review it and issue a 
recommendation. That was the process that happened on this project. 

Mr. Banta: Do you recall when the last TIS was done? 

Mr. Lobdell: No, I believe 2012 it was based on. 

Mr. Banta: You do realize in the last four years there have been developments, 12 
or 13 just west of this particular proposal you are bringing before us? 

Mr. Lobdell: Correct. 

Leo Ramunno, Attorney, 903 French Street, Wilmington, DE: What we are 
doing is seeking a conditional use approval. I want to make sure we understand 
what the requirements are. Unless you approve, there's no sense in going to Del
Dot. At the request of the tenants and the fire marshal we reduced the buildings 
to two stories, so now we have two stories. We also have one bedroom and two 
bedroom units. There's not much more we can do, frankly. We reduced the units 
from 140 to 104. They wanted a resident manager, we said fine. They wanted a 
fence; we said fine, we'll give you a fence. There was a question about 
playgrounds, question about a game room and so forth. The reality frankly, is 
there is a need for housing there. In fact, in today's paper there was an article that 
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said 60% of people 18 to 35 are still living with their parents, I guess they call it 
the basement generation. The reason that it was denied was not really for traffic, 
in fact, the vote was five to two, it was expressed by the commissioners that voted 
against they were very against it because the neighborhood people don't want it. 
They don't want apartments. They have expressed it. They were very candid 
about it. They think this will reduce the value of their homes. The truth is, that a 
gas station that requires a thousand trips, compared to this, that is only 600, and 
all the things a gas station brings, will reduce the value of their home much more 
and we can put in a gas station without a public hearing. A motel, you have 2000 
trips, would much more jeopardize the value of their homes than upscale 
apartments. The final story is we've complied with the conditional use. I think as 
one of the commissioners said, I am supposed to abide by the law, whatever the 
regulations are. Your project is consistent with the regulations and for me to do 
my job I have to vote in favor of it, which interestingly, the two female 
commissioners voted in favor and the five male commissioners all voted against it 
because the people do not want it. I urge you to vote in favor, because frankly, as 
far as I am concerned, you are doing the residents a favor, because they would not 
want a commercial, which they would have no choice. 

Mr. Howell: How much would rent be for these apartments? 

Mr. Ramunno: We would anticipate about $1,200.00 a month for the two 
bedrooms. 

Mr. Buckson: I'm not too excited about the apartments, but that's not relevant, 
it's got nothing to do with the apartments, it has everything to do with the location 
and the traffic. It's not the apartments for me. Your current status and what you 
are portraying to the folks that are here tonight is correct. You have been at 
something along these lines since 2015, is that correct? 

Mr. Ramunno: For these apartments? 

Mr. Buckson: Yes. 

Mr. Ramunno: Yes, it was started in 2015. 

Mr. Buckson: Every step of the way there's been hold-ups and such, and we, the 
government or residents have presented issues, and with those issues, I must 
compliment you. Regardless of the traffic and whether or not you like 
apartments, the last page was almost like a book, and it was a big book, trying to 
read through all the testimony. But at the end, when your fmal testimony and 
what you stated, the change was dramatic, significant in what you attempted to do 
to meet all the hurdles presented. Because at the end, the hurdle could simply be 
we just don't want the apartments there. That's okay; residents have a right to 
stand up and say that or show up. But for you personally, you met every single, I 
mean it was amazing the hurdles that you jumped through trying to get to a point 
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where maybe folks could say yes. So I compliment you on that. My issue is 
going to be, how we address the issue of traffic. I am not a big fan of using the 
Hickory Road. I would like a better explanation as to why the two entrances 
along 13, if this is going to fly, between the two, both of them have issues, but if 
you had to pick one. Essentially, if you can buffer and wall out and fence up and 
create a positive environment, lower the density, you drop the height down from 
three to two, you do all the things you've done, and then you eliminate the access 
to Hickory Road, you've essentially got two entrances out there, well then now 
you're just another product. I get it, not perfect. What is the ability to do 
something like that? 

Mr. Ramunno: I have no problem with that. We actually proposed that. We 
proposed that we would only use those two entrances. It was Del-Dot that said 
we would rather have, for example, maybe you could just make the entrance on 
Hickory Ridge Road an emergency exit, maybe for fire trucks or something like 
that. We proposed that, we are more than happy to do that. If that is your 
condition, we certainly will go along with that. It was Del-Dot that said we think 
you should only have one and we think you have one on Hickory Ridge. Del-Dot 
has to approve this, otherwise I can't get approval, I can't get building permits. 

Mr. Buckson: Whatever the motion is made and whatever the votes are, you run 
the risk of a lawsuit if you don't accurately portray what your motion for denial 
will be. How does that work, if in fact somehow this was approved? 

Miss Keifer: What Levy Court had done in the past, because Levy Court doesn't 
have final say over entrance permits obviously, that's the purview of Del-Dot. 
What the County's done in the past where there have been concerns on our behalf 
is put on condition on, for example, rather than the rights in, rights out on Hickory 
Ridge. Perhaps it would simply be a forestry lane for emergency access, provided 
it's ultimately approved by Del-Dot. Levy Court would perhaps have a condition 
that a second entrance instead be added to Route 13 provided Del-Dot would 
approve the entrance. In those cases we've also asked just for written 
confirmation, one way or the other, from Del-Dot. 

Mr. Buckson: Thank you. I'll close with this one. I can feel the eyes piercing 
through me. I get it. The only other concern I have is what I stated before, or the 
fact that it's been 215. Eventually you're going to give up on this and then I am 
very concerned about what you bring forth, that we have no opinion or no say on. 
I am concerned with that. 

IN OPPOSITION 

Patrick C. Donahue, 302 Audrey Lane, North Ridge, DE: My understanding is 
that the fire companies generally do not want to be perceived as blocking 
development actions, so their position, when asked, is "build it and we will take 
care of it." Commissioner Dave, a 56 year member of the Volunteer Fire 
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Department made the point that, as a driver of a ladder truck, he knew you cannot 
make aU-turn on 13. Rodney Fletcher, who I suspect will be speaking, made the 
point at the last meeting; there are not apartment complexes in Kent County that 
are outside of a municipal boundary. I checked with planning and was told there 
were two that were approved and never have been built. There are none that are 
outside the protection of a municipal police force, and apartment complexes 
generally do require a little bit more police protection. The picture the engineer 
put up briefly showed the surrounding neighborhoods, they are very spread out; 
tend to behalf-acre lots. Spring Meadow is a bit denser, it's across the road, it's 
nothing with the density of this apartment complex, so to say it's generally within 
the characteristics of the surrounding community is a bit of a stretch. Traffic, 
Del-Dot's theory on traffic, is people leaving the apartment complex in the 
morning will exit onto Hickory Ridge Road and turn left and go north, or they'll 
go onto Route 13 and go south to Dover and points beyond. If they get frustrated 
waiting to get out onto Hickory Ridge with the traffic that Mr. Banta observed, 
there's only 12 car lengths between the proposed driveway and the stoplight, they 
will go out the other way, then they will go around the curve at Garrison Lake, 
they will make aU-turn at Messina Hill Road joining the traffic that already 
makes the U-turn at Messina Hill Road making northbound traffic even more of a 
crapshoot than it is today. I am going to comment for Mr. Ramunno. Throughout 
this process, part of his tactic has been to threaten other development that's been 
approved. He has purchased an 11 acre, very narrow piece of land on Route 13 in 
between Smyrna and Dover. We have a sleazy motel and strip club across 
already, so another sleazy motel, or nice or even a nice hotel is not commercially 
viable there. It's too big a site for a gas station; it could be a strip mall. The issue 
is finding a commercial development that meets the current requirements that 
takes most of the 11 acres; or he is going to have a gas station on the corner and a 
lot of empty space. 

Mr. Banta: At one of the community meetings, I think at the Cheswold 
Firehouse, it was mentioned that storage units are more acceptable because; a) of 
their security; b) because oftheir lighting; c) require keycard to get in there; they 
are fenced as well. I am just asking. 

Mr. Donahue: I think Mr. Fletcher suggested that would be an alternative. 
There's empty office space up and down Route 13, there's half empty strip malls, 
there's a restaurant around the corner that collapsed and now is part of a daycare. 
There are plenty of opportunities to develop businesses that will fail on that piece 
of property. 

Rev. Dan Foresee, 528 Sorrell Circle, Smyrna, DE: I don't think I need to take 
the oath and if you can agree to that I will continue. I need to thank these 
gentlemen here for taking such wonderful care to make sure we have a great 
development across from our homes. I know the Smyrna Hotel nearby would 
give their first born child to have 2000 trips a day. I don't know where their 
figures come from. There is no storage to speak of for the cars. You are going to 
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back up not only onto Hickory Ridge; you're going to back up onto Route 13 
itself. I'm thinking that might be a little danger point. I doubt seriously the 
people coming out; they are not going to go out Hickory Ridge off of Brenford 
Road to come back north. They are going to come to the light; they'll make their 
left there and sit there three or four minutes with the rest of us. Except now 
they'll have trouble getting there. I want to react to the statement, we just don't 
like apartments. I think apartments are wonderful and I'm sure you probably pay 
in the neighborhood of $2,500.00 a month for yours. When you said you are 
going to rent these out for $1,200.00 a month, I'm thinking you need an additional 
bus stop in front of that complex 'cause you're kind of creating who you want to 
come into that neighborhood. We are not "exclusivist" by any choice, we have 
people from all walks of life, all occupations, all races, we are all there for each 
other. I think you need to be realistic to tell us we have to sit across from you and 
look at your buildings and just put up with it is a little obnoxious. We have no 
reason to want to see this wonderful development, because it's not what it is. Any 
questions? No. 

Phillip Voshell, 190 Sorrell Circle, Smyrna, DE: It's not because we don't like 
apartments, we think it doesn't belong where he wants to put it. It has to do with 
the density area. If you look around, as it has been pointed out, the density of that 
entire area is single-family homes. In essence, it just does not fit the density of 
the area. That's the way we feel, it's not apartments, we are not being that way. 
We'd like to have something beautiful there. What's being proposed, I don't think 
is the answer. I know he can say, okay we'll put a gas station there. A gas station 
is not going to make any money there because it's 65 mile per hour or better going 
through that light to get around the curve to Garrison's Lake. So, that's our 
argument. I want to point out something that Mr. Buckson brought up regarding 
the school. Smyrna School District is north of this community. Now, you put 
only entrances on Route 13, the school buses are going to have to stop on 13, or if 
it goes in the development it comes back on 13, guess where they got to do aU
turn? Just around the curve at Garrisons Lake. Do you want them to do that at 65 
miles an hour coming up north on 13? I don't. That is room for disaster. I don't 
think if you do approve it that you can take away the Hickory Ridge entrance. I 
say that because of the school buses. I appreciate all that Mr. Ramunno has done 
to try to satisfy us; unfortunately, I don't think it fits the area. 

Donald Whitworth, 421 Fletcher Drive, North Ridge, Smyrna, DE: I believe 
that the Planning Commission's vote was not based on gender, it just happens to 
be 5-2 male-female. Their vote was based on sound evidence and testimony by 
many of us as residents. I would hope that the commission's votes or opinions are 
what you levy today, not a play on words, is not predicated on a fear of litigation 
against you but doing what's right, which I would call profiles in courage. The 
bottom line is, we are here for a lifetime and this is where we plant out flag to live 
and die. This is, for most of us, as I said to the Planning Commission, our last 
home. Mr. Ramunno was right, we don't want apartments. Most of us lived in 
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them when we were growing up as young adults and we worked our way up out 
of the situation and out of the environment and we don't want to revisit it. 

Matthew Garrity, 355 Sorrell Circle, Smyrna, DE: The area is surrounded by 
single-family, high-value homes. It is not discriminatory to say that apartment 
people, society is different than home owners. I've lived in apartments. I've lived 
in houses. The psychology of that type of living is different. There's a difference 
between owners and renters. Fact of life. People coming into the area determine 
the market value. The market value determines the tax. The market value goes 
down, the tax goes down. My investment and my property goes down and I 
suffer from a financial loss. I am not in favor of apartments because I am worried 
about my investment. I know from experience apartment complexes, high value 
or low value, because you can't control them, they might be high value when 
they're built but ifthey don't rent the landlord fills them with whoever does pay. 
So they're volatile. 

Rodney Fletcher, Developer, Northridge: Does it blend in? Does it fit? Does it 
make sense? For example, you're not going to approve a strip joint next to a 
church, right? So, we've got to be sure that it fits. Yes, it may fit the County 
requirements, he may have jumped through numerous rings of fire and pulled 
many rabbits out of hats in order to comply with what the Regional Board said he 
had to do, and apparently he has complied so far, but does that make it right? Is it 
a good fit? I don't think it's a good fit. In my company, if a management position 
becomes open there may be 10 people in the company that apply and all 10 of 
them are fit for the job, but they take the one that is the best fit. This is not the 
best fit. 

Trey Paradee: The reason why we're here tonight, we are talking about 
changing the zoning of this property. Earlier, I heard Mr. Ramunno say he 
thought he was doing everyone a favor by putting in this apartment complex. 
That's not the deal, that wasn't the deal when these people bought their homes. 
When you buy a home there's a compact, there's a deal, there's a relationship 
between you and your neighbors, there's an understanding. You understand what 
you can do on your property; you understand what they can do on their property. 
That's really what this is all about. Are we going to allow the rules to be changed 
so Mr. Ramunno can come down here and make a lot of money? That's really 
what this is about. That's not what these folks signed up for. 

Public Hearing is Closed On Application CS14-10 
Mr. Banta: Based on the testimony and the public hearing this evening, as well as 
receiving denial for this application from the Regional Planning Commission, the 
traffic concerns, the lack of a current traffic study/information study, as well as 
under T.9, Del. Code, Chapter 4901, Section 4902, and Section 4903, Section 
b states, that, "The regulations shall be made with reasonable 
consideration, among other things, of the character of the particular district 
involved, its peculiar suitability for particular uses, the conservation of property 
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values and natural resources and the general and appropriate trend and character 
of land, building and population development." The concern of the ladder truck 
being unable to make the turn to get into the property as is currently designed, the 
traffic concern with school buses making aU-turn at Messina Hill Road and 
coming back, which would possibly be, the word used, a disaster, and finally, 
someone mentioned the number of developments that have been built beyond 
Hickory Ridge Road out towards Brenford. I counted 14, Rodney said 17, one of 
us is right, one of us is wrong. Based on that, I Move that we DENY Application 
CS 14-10, Hickory Ridge Apartments, based on those conditions; seconded by 
Mr. Sweeney. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Reasons stated by Mr. Banta, yes. 

Mr. Banta: Yes. 

Mr. Buckson: It's not the apartment situation that has me perplexed; it's what I 
said before it's the traffic. There's a place down the street from where I work, 
Section 8 housing. It is directly adjacent to the fastest growing, most exclusive 
development in Kent County, I would call it, based on home prices. The only 
problem is the development came after Section 8, so we didn't have the same 
standard apply. We need to be cautious when we look at things that they are 
automatically going to ruin property values. I don't necessarily agree with that, 
there's evidence throughout the County that suggests that, as long as it's 
maintained. The issue I have right now is the EMS, emergency services is an 
issue for me. I didn't see anything directly related to an okay from the fire 
companies and it's unique because it is not in a municipality. Although it is in a 
fire district, it is not in a municipality. That's a problem for me. Then the traffic. 
It's sort of fluid; we're not set on where the entrance could be or may be and what 
the impact would be. I was favor of voting for this if I could get a better 
understanding of what the two entrances would look like, but I don't have that 
information in front of me at this time to accurately to make that description and 
decision. With that said, I will vote in favor of the motion which is to deny. 

Mr. Hosfelt: To me, it's two issues; traffic safety and life safety, and for those 
two reasons, I vote in favor to deny. 

Mr. Howell: I vote in favor to deny, too. I would like to remind all the people 
here, that plot of land is not going to stay the way it is forever. Someday, 
something is going to go there and we will have this discussion again. This is the 
second time since I have been in office we have talked about this particular piece 
of land. I am going to go along with it primarily because I believe that the 
standing property owners call the shots, but there are limitations to that. 
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Mr. Sweeney: My reasons for seconding the motion as well as voting in favor of 
the denial have already been stated. I drive through that intersection 15 times a 
week, back and forth to Smyrna School District. I also have a close relationship 
with the Transportation Director of the Smyrna School District who knows what 
she's up against trying to get a bus to stop on Route 13 again, which makes it a 
very dangerous situation. For kids, I have been behind buses and watched people 
run right through the red lights, that's on Route 13 and that's a dangerous, 
dangerous thing to present to people. Based on the fact that it significantly 
increases the potential for accidents on 13, increases the traffic flow from Hickory 
Ridge onto northbound and southbound 13, I've seen people sit through three 
lights trying to get through there, and contrary to what Mr. Ramunno said, this 
will negatively impact the value of homes in the area which I am not in favor of. 
I vote yes in favor of the denial. 

Mr. Pepper: I'd like to thank all the folks that have been here for at least 3 112 
hours. Believe it or not there are some nights there's nobody out there. It's a 
pleasure to see people with a concern to come forward and come out, we 
appreciate that. With that being said, if you were here at the beginning you heard 
me say my vote had to be consistent. Since I have been on Levy Court I have 
never voted in favor of any high density housing away from municipalities. I 
think municipalities are built to handle high density housing such as this, and 
being consistent with the previous hearing that we had, I wasn't in favor of that 
because of the higher density. The higher density needs to be closer to the 
municipalities, closer to your areas that can provide services to those folks, 
whether it be fire, transportation. A lot of folks are living in apartments for a 
reason; it's what they can afford, and a lot of times they have to give up one thing 
or another, sometimes it's a vehicle, so they require existing transportation. · Going 
back to what I said earlier, I am an advocate of, if you can predict, you can 
prevent it. In this case, I have a real concern about all the school age kids that are 
going to be living there and questions just have not been answered as to what their 
safety will be with buses picking them up; I don't care where you pick them up in 
front of there, unless they go into North Ridge and pick them up on the other side 
of the hill, they are not going to be safe. For all those reasons, I support the 
motion to deny. 

Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Application LC 14-1 0 is denied and the Regional 
Planning recommendation has been affirmed. 

KENT COUNTY ORDINANCE 

Mr. Buckson: 
1. Ordinance LC17-05, Sports Medicine Facilities, An Ordinance to 

amend Kent County Code, Vol. II, Chapter 205, Zoning, as amended by 
revising Article V, AC- Agricultural Conservation District, §205-48, 
Conditional Uses and Article XXI, Conditional Uses, §205-305, Hospitals 
and §205-365, Table of Conditional Uses to permit physical therapy and 
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sports medicine facilities and medical rehabilitation centers as conditional 

use in the AC - Agricultural Conservation District. 

Miss Keifer: Ordinance LC 17-05 physical therapy and sports medicine facilities 

and medical rehabilitation centers as conditional uses requiring site plan review in 

the Agricultural Conservation Zoning District. What it does is effectively add 

these uses to hospitals and convalescent homes which are existing conditional 

uses in AC Zoning District. Planning Commission held their hearing on this 

March 2nd meeting, at their March 9th business meeting voted to recommend 

denial of the ordinance siting concerns that the potential impact of the ordinance 

was too broad. It is a fairly simple text amendment. I am happy to answer any 

questions you might have. 

Public Hearing is Open on Ordinance LC17-05 

IN FAVOR- None 

IN OPPOSITION- None 

Public Hearing is Closed on Ordinance LC17-05 

Mr. Buckson: I make a Motion we approve Ordinance LC17-05, it is a positive 

amendment or addition to the hospital and the convalescent homes that are 

currently permitted there; seconded by Mr. Angel. 

Roll Call: 

Mr. Angel: Yes, I agree, it is something that needed to be done and changed. 

Mr. Buckson: Based on my comments and no public opposition, yes. 

Mr. Hosfelt: Yes, for the reasons stated. 

Mr. Howell: Yes, it is zoned appropriately and it is part ofthe property already 

under our jurisdiction. 

Mr. Pepper: Yes, for reasons stated, plus it will support/take some of the load off 

the local volunteer fire company medical facilities there. 

Mr. Sweeney: Yes, for all reasons stated. 

Mr. Banta: With the new paramedic facility in the southeast quadrant, which is 

desperately needed, this facility will certainly back that up, in a certain amount of 

time I think will be very expeditious in medical emergencies that may occur, I 

vote yes. 
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Roll Call reveals seven (7) yeas. Ordinance LC 1 7-05 has been approved. 

CLOSE PUBLIC HEARINGS 

OLD BUSINESS -None 

NEW BUSINESS -None 

Mr. Banta MOVED to approve the re-appointment of William "Bill" Andrew as 
Economic Partnership member; seconded by Mr. Angel; carried by roll call vote 
seven (7) yeas. 

Mr. Banta MOVED to appoint Mr. Tom Byrd to the Kent Economic Partnership; 
seconded by Mr. Sweeney; carried by roll call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Mr. Banta appointed Mr. Jim Hosfelt to the Delaware Chamber of Commerce. 

Other Business 

Motion by Mr. Pepper to go into Executive Session immediately following 
Committee Meetings on Tuesday, April4, 2017 for preliminary discussion on site 
acquisition for a publicly funded capital improvement; legal strategy session 
regarding collective bargaining or pending or potential litigation; and personnel 
matters pursuant to 29 Del. C. 10004(b) (2), (4), and (9); seconded by Mr. 
Sweeney; carried by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 

Informational Items -None 

Public Comments -None 

Commissioner Comments 

Mr. Angel: I want to welcome Jim on board and just to let you know, you got 
sworn in tonight and you got sworn at tonight. I got your first complaint tonight 
at 6:31 today, someone who wanted to know who his commissioner was so I will 
give this to you. 

Mr. Pepper: Likewise, Jim, I'd like to welcome you aboard. Your background 
will certainly benefit the Levy Court and we appreciate it and any input you have 
on anything. If you need any help from any of us give us a phone call. 

Mr. Banta: Commissioner Hosfelt, you researched all the hearings we had this 
evening and were prepared to vote which is unusual, but that is great and I 
appreciate your effort. Welcome aboard, and I am here to assist you in anything 
you might need. 
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Motion to Adjourn was made by Mr. Sweeney; seconded by Mr. Angel; carried 
by Roll Call vote seven (7) yeas. 10:51 p.m. 

Brenda Wootten 
Kent County Clerk of the Peace 


